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          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Good morning. My

          3  name is Council Member Reverend Ruben Diaz, and I am

          4  honored to chair the New York City Council Committee

          5  on Aging.

          6                 Today the Committee will hold a

          7  hearing on two Senior Citizen Rent Increase

          8  Exemption, or SCRIE initially.

          9                 Introduction No. 135 introduced by

         10  Council Member Margarita Lopez, seeks to amend the

         11  local law to allow recipients of SCRIE rent

         12  exemption in order to receive exemptions which

         13  relate to the time when they first met eligibility

         14  criteria for the program, rather than to the date

         15  they applied.

         16                 Other SCRIE Resolution No. 175,

         17  introduced by Council Member Martin Golden, called

         18  upon the New York State Legislature and the Governor

         19  to enact the pending Assembly bill which seeks to

         20  reduce the required percentage of income to be paid

         21  toward rent for SCRIE from one-third to 25 percent

         22  where household income is 14,400 per year or less.

         23                 SCRIE is an available program for our

         24  senior citizens because it assists with the rent and

         25  allows them to have more funds available for other
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          2  expenses, such as food and medical costs.

          3                 Today we will hear testimony to

          4  assist the Committee, to assist this Committee in

          5  determining whether the proposed SCRIE initiatives

          6  are a viable way of expanding that program.

          7                 To my right is the Counsel to the

          8  Committee, Cheree' Buggs; and to my left is the

          9  Senior member of the Committee, Mr. Christopher

         10  Lynn.

         11                 Members of the Committee are calling,

         12  they are going to be here a little late, due to the

         13  fact that outside it's raining and the weather is

         14  causing traffic jams and people are stopping

         15  traffic, but they will be here; nonetheless, I would

         16  like to start my meeting on time.

         17                 I'm going to call the first witness,

         18  Donna Tessitore, Assistant Commissioner.

         19                 I am also informed that Mr. Stephen

         20  Solomon from the Finance, the Finance Analyst for

         21  this Committee is here.

         22                 How are you doing, sir? Good morning.

         23  How are you feeling?

         24                 MR. SOLOMON: Good.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Okay.
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          2                 Donna Tessitore, Assistant

          3  Commissioner of the New York City Department for the

          4  Aging, representing Commissioner Edwin Mendez.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE:

          6  Good morning. My name is Donna Tessitore, Assistant

          7  Commissioner for the Bureau of Senior Assistance and

          8  Benefits of the New York City Department for the

          9  Aging.

         10                 On behalf of Commissioner Edwin

         11  Mendez-Santiago, I would like to thank you for the

         12  opportunity to talk about the Senior Citizen Rent

         13  Increase Exemption Program, SCRIE, and allow me to

         14  comment on Intro. No. 135.

         15                 Mayor Bloomberg is a strong advocate

         16  for rent protections which are vital to older New

         17  Yorkers who often live on fixed incomes and need

         18  appropriate rent regulations to remain in their

         19  homes.

         20                 He has also promoted programs like

         21  SCRIE that provide a means for older residents to

         22  remain in their communities.

         23                 The Department for the Aging

         24  administers the senior citizen rent increase

         25  exemption program, which was established in 1974 to
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          2  assist low-income senior citizens living in rent

          3  controlled and rent stabilized apartments to remain

          4  in their homes by authorizing exemptions from

          5  increases in their rent.

          6                 In exchange their landlords receive a

          7  dollar for dollar real property tax abatement from

          8  the City of New York.

          9                 SCRIE currently provides assistance

         10  to approximately 44,000 households in more than

         11  29,000 rent-regulated buildings. Over $67 million in

         12  benefits were provided to low-income households

         13  during City Fiscal Year 2002.

         14                 SCRIE provides exemptions from rent

         15  increases to New York City tenants who live in a

         16  rent-regulated apartment or hotel, who are 62 years

         17  of age or older, who are head of household or the

         18  tenant of record, whose monthly rent, including any

         19  increase, represents one-third or more of their

         20  total household income, and whose total household

         21  income for the previous tax year does not exceed

         22  $20,000.

         23                 SCRIE recipients must recertify their

         24  eligibility upon expiration of each rent cycle by

         25  filing a renewal application.
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          2                 Among the 44,000 households

          3  participating in the program the average SCRIE

          4  recipient was 76 years of age, and receives an

          5  average monthly exemption of $166.11 per month.

          6                 The City Council proposes to enact

          7  legislation that would provide retroactive

          8  eligibility for SCRIE recipients for periods prior

          9  to their initial application for benefits.

         10                 Over the years the Department for the

         11  Aging has witnessed the burdensome impact of the

         12  rising cost of living on our clients. For most,

         13  their limited income cannot keep pace with the

         14  increasing financial costs of every day necessities,

         15  such as food, housing, transportation and medical

         16  care.

         17                 As the general costs of living

         18  continue to increase, there is a greater burden for

         19  seniors to stretch their thin dollar even thinner.

         20                 In an effort to help ease this

         21  burden, the Department for the Aging conducts

         22  extensive outreach through media, community-based

         23  organizations, other services agencies, and public

         24  forums to inform seniors about the SCRIE program.

         25                 Over the past two years the SCRIE
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          2  program reprinted and distributed over 65,000 SCRIE

          3  guidebooks and applications.

          4                 In Fiscal 2002 SCRIE partnered in an

          5  outreach initiative with the Transit Authority to

          6  ride the Authority's MetroCard Outreach Bus, in

          7  order to distribute SCRIE guidebooks and

          8  applications. Our staff traveled to communities in

          9  Queens, Brooklyn and Manhattan. Our bilingual staff

         10  communicated the program and answered questions in

         11  English, Spanish and Chinese.

         12                 In Fiscal 2001, SCRIE partnered in

         13  our outreach efforts with our Social Security

         14  Administration. Our concentrated targeted outreach

         15  was the Social Security District Borough Offices.

         16  SCRIE sent posters, guidebooks and applications to

         17  25 Social Security district offices.

         18                 While we recognize the importance of

         19  continued outreach as a key factor to inform and

         20  encourage seniors to apply for SCRIE as early as

         21  possible, we believe that the Council's proposal to

         22  extend benefits retroactively to seniors who did not

         23  apply at an earlier date is not a viable solution.

         24                 I would like to comment on a few

         25  major issues relating to Intro. No. 135, and submit
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          2  to the Council various concerns that may not have

          3  been considered when proposing this resolution.

          4                 We encourage the Council not to

          5  consider this proposal in light of the negative

          6  unintended impact it represents for the following

          7  reasons.

          8                 Many seniors will be unable to

          9  provide income and rental documentation for the past

         10  years for all present and past household members in

         11  order that we might determine if they were eligible

         12  for SCRIE at an earlier time.

         13                 Remember, this is not six years prior

         14  to 2002, but six years prior to their initial

         15  application. We estimate that this would require

         16  producing information from 13 to 18 years ago on

         17  average.

         18                 It would compensate landlords from

         19  multi-year rental amounts for which they have

         20  already been paid through credits to their property

         21  tax accounts at the Department of Finance.

         22                 It would be up to the landlord to

         23  determine how and when to reimburse seniors

         24  receiving retroactive benefits and to assume the

         25  administrative burden of doing so.
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          2                 It would be further complicated by

          3  retroactive credit being given to landlords who may

          4  not have owned the property in prior years.

          5                 Lump sum payments to reimburse SCRIE

          6  participants for rental amounts from past years

          7  might also jeopardize a tenant's eligibility for

          8  other means tested programs.

          9                 It would require a change to the real

         10  property tax law, Section 467B2A that specifically

         11  speaks to prior income year of application.

         12                 And finally, cost implications for

         13  the City could result in a loss of millions of

         14  dollars in tax revenue, and I understand that both

         15  OMB and Counsel of Finance Committee agree that

         16  would be about $35 million, just the first year

         17  alone. And that would be especially difficult in

         18  this time of fiscal austerity.

         19                 The current bill proposes to review

         20  the eligibility  of SCRIE recipients retroactively,

         21  setting the tenants' portion of the rent at the

         22  amount he or she was paying when first meeting all

         23  eligibility requirements, for a maximum of six years

         24  prior to initial application.

         25                 Under the City Council's proposed
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          2  revision, tenants would have to supply lease and

          3  income documentation for each of the six prior years

          4  in order for the SCRIE program to determine whether

          5  the applicant met all the eligibility criteria as

          6  set forth by law.

          7                 In many cases this means they would

          8  need to provide proof of all changes in household

          9  composition and income, including for individuals

         10  who are no longer living with them.

         11                 In addition, they would have to

         12  supply documentation on state issued orders that may

         13  have affected their rent in the past, including

         14  maximum-based rent increases, fuel cost adjustments,

         15  major capital improvements rent reduction orders,

         16  rent restoration orders, J 51 abatements and rent

         17  overcharges.

         18                 Moreover, we are cognizant of clients

         19  who are able to provide information for only part of

         20  the six-year period.

         21                 In addition, not all applicants

         22  remain eligible from year to year, and some would

         23  experience a break in their eligibility for SCRIE

         24  during the look back period.

         25                 Although the SCRIE application
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          2  procedure has been greatly simplified and processing

          3  time significantly decreased, members of the City

          4  Council have, in the past, expressed their concern

          5  about the amount of information that seniors must

          6  provide.

          7                 It is important to understand the

          8  negative impact that the proposed revision would

          9  have on new clients, as well as renewal applicants

         10  who must supply income and rental information for up

         11  to six years.

         12                 The Council's proposed changes would

         13  exponentially increase the number of pending

         14  applications that cannot be processed fully without

         15  the tenants supplying income or rental

         16  documentation.

         17                 Ultimately many of these applications

         18  would have to be denied because the tenant was

         19  unable to provide critical information.

         20                 The Department has successfully

         21  reduced the time to process a SCRIE application to

         22  34 days or less; however, the enormous amount of

         23  time it would take for SCRIE staff to obtain and

         24  examine six years' worth of income and rental

         25  information to determine whether a tenant was
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          2  retroactively eligible would create an application

          3  processing backlog for the program overall.

          4                 The unfortunate by-product of

          5  spending so much time determining the retroactive

          6  eligibility for seniors who did not apply for SCRIE

          7  earlier would be to increase processing time and

          8  delay benefit determination for all applicants.

          9                 The Council bill is unclear as to how

         10  retroactive benefits would be administered.

         11  Currently when an exemption is granted a landlord

         12  receives a dollar for dollar property tax credit to

         13  his or her account of the Department of Finance to

         14  offset the loss of rental income.

         15                 However, in the instance where a

         16  tenant is applying for retroactive benefits, his or

         17  her landlord would have already been paid the rent

         18  in full, therefore, a retroactive SCRIE benefit

         19  would result in a rent overpayment.

         20                 Since the only mechanism the SCRIE

         21  program has to pay benefits is to credit the

         22  landlord's property tax account, it would then be up

         23  to the landlord to reimburse the tenant.

         24                 No organizational entity exists to

         25  monitor and enforce that landlords properly refund
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          2  or credit tenants for all retroactive benefits

          3  during the years they were not participating in

          4  SCRIE.

          5                 The City would have no way of knowing

          6  whether the City -- whether the tenant was properly

          7  repaid unless the tenant advised us, and we have no

          8  enforcement mechanism to guarantee the

          9  reimbursement.

         10                 Cases in which the SCRIE tenant would

         11  be reimbursed for rental amounts he or she paid from

         12  past years could create a significant new problem.

         13  Like SCRIE many public benefit programs have maximum

         14  income guidelines that are a central factor in

         15  determining eligibility for participation. Many

         16  low-income seniors who are eligible for SCRIE would

         17  also likely qualify for other programs. However,

         18  under the Council's proposal, a lump sum payment or

         19  a series of large installments to reimburse the

         20  SCRIE tenant for prior years might impose an

         21  artificial spike in the household income to the

         22  extent of jeopardizing tenants' eligibility for

         23  other means tested programs.

         24                 This could create a substantial

         25  barrier impeding senior access to these needed
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          2  benefits, and would result in an added hardship for

          3  each individual involved.

          4                 It would be necessary for the City

          5  Council to propose legislative language change at

          6  the state level to implement the proposed SCRIE

          7  eligibility criteria.

          8                 Currently the Real Property Tax Law

          9  of Section 467-b(2)(a) specifically ties the income

         10  eligibility to the SCRIE application date of the

         11  senior, therefore, to administer and approve SCRIE

         12  eligibility for years prior to the initial

         13  application would be contrary to the statute as

         14  written, and would necessitate a state legislative

         15  change to the laws that govern the SCRIE program.

         16                 In our efforts to forecast the

         17  potential cost implications that Intro. 135 would

         18  induce, it has become clear that existing data is

         19  incomplete and unreliable for supporting dependable

         20  cost predictions.

         21                 We have no way to determine how many

         22  households can substantiate an earlier eligibility.

         23  As stated earlier, SCRIE participation is based on a

         24  combination of eligibility factors. Household

         25  composition and income does vary, particularly when
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          2  we may be looking at information that might be a

          3  decade or more old.

          4                 What we do know is that the SCRIE

          5  program currently authorizes over 67 million

          6  annually in property tax abatement in order to serve

          7  its current population. These abatements are

          8  essentially lost revenue for the City. Therefore, at

          9  a time of fiscal constraint, the implementation of

         10  Intro. No. 135 could result in an inestimable loss

         11  of millions of additional dollars in tax revenue.

         12                 As stated earlier, the Department for

         13  the Aging encourages the Council not to consider

         14  Intro. No. 135 in light of the negative unintended

         15  impact it represents for seniors, landlords and the

         16  City.

         17                 We appreciate the Council's continued

         18  efforts to assist senior constituents, and promote

         19  SCRIE and other programs for older New Yorkers.

         20                 Thank you for giving us the

         21  opportunity to comment on these important issues.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Thank you, Ms.

         23  Tessitore.

         24                 I have a few questions for you.

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE:
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          2  Okay.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: And I appreciate

          4  you coming.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE:

          6  Thank you for inviting us.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: I appreciate the

          8  Commissioner, Commissioner Mendez, sending you.

          9                 But I have a question.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE:

         11  Okay.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: The first question.

         13  Who is responsible for letting the senior know the

         14  date that they are -- the date that they should be

         15  available, that they should be ready to apply to

         16  qualify for SCRIE.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE: I

         18  don't think there is one specific entity.

         19                 Obviously, the Department for the

         20  Aging, one of our goals is to inform seniors about

         21  all the benefits that are out there that they may be

         22  eligible for, including SCRIE, and we do that

         23  directly, with our own staff, and with

         24  community-based agencies that the Department works

         25  with and funds.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Do you agree that

          3  someone should be responsible for letting the

          4  seniors know?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE:

          6  Well, I think a lot of us should be responsible. We

          7  work, you know, with the City Council as well, with

          8  your offices, we put out a lot of literature, and

          9  the goal is to reach all seniors about all benefits.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: So, do you know,

         11  are you familiar with the New York City Housing

         12  Authority?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE:

         14  Yes, I am.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Okay, do you know

         16  what are the rules in the New York City Housing

         17  Authority to a tenant when the income varies and the

         18  income goes high, what are the responsibilities of

         19  the tenant?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE:

         21  Actually, I cannot speak to that issue. I don't

         22  know.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Okay.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE: I

         25  believe they are allowed to pay a surcharge, but I'm
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          2  not positive.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: To my

          4  understanding, on the best of my knowledge, a tenant

          5  in the New York City Housing Authority, they have to

          6  report to the Housing Authority immediately when

          7  they get an increase of income, and the US Housing

          8  Authority will increase their rent based on their

          9  income.

         10                 If that tenant fails to inform the

         11  New York City Housing Authority that they have an

         12  increase of income, and they go by one year, two

         13  year, four years, five years without informing the

         14  New York City Housing Authority that they have an

         15  increase of rent five years ago, when the New York

         16  City Housing Authority finds out that that tenant

         17  owes rent, they force the tenant to pay the rent,

         18  all the money that they owe, because the tenant did

         19  not inform the Housing that he or her income went

         20  up, and they have to pay or they will be kicked out.

         21  Don't you think that what is good for the goose

         22  should be good for the gander?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE: I

         24  think what really we're talking about is how do we

         25  reach seniors and let them know about benefits that
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          2  they might be eligible for at the earliest period in

          3  time, and that's a challenge we all face.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: What I'm saying is,

          5  senior will not know when they qualify. Someone has

          6  to tell them. Someone has to be responsible.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE:

          8  Well, I think that is a thing that we all do. I

          9  think it's a thing that your staff do, that we do at

         10  the Department, and I said, that we do with our

         11  community-based agencies.

         12                 We have sent out over the past few

         13  years hundreds of thousands of SCRIE guides, which

         14  explains to people what the rules and eligibility

         15  requirements of the program are.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Okay, if we --

         17  we're talking about, one of the things that many

         18  seniors will be unable to provide income and rent

         19  documentation for the past year for all present and

         20  past household member, in order that we might

         21  determine they were eligible. The second one says,

         22  it will compensate landlord for multi-year rent --

         23  now, if the Department, the City or whoever decide

         24  that the senior have to be informed, and we fail to

         25  inform the senior, the Department fail to inform the
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          2  senior, they say you qualify now, shouldn't we be

          3  responsible or liable for not telling the senior

          4  that they were supposed to be --

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE: I

          6  understand your question, Councilman Diaz, but I

          7  think the issue is eligibility.

          8                 I don't know in the City of New York

          9  for any given senior who lives in their household

         10  with them. I don't know if they live alone. I don't

         11  know what their rental, what their income is, I

         12  don't know what their rent income ratio is, unless

         13  they tell me. I can't assume that once someone turns

         14  62 they're automatically eligible for SCRIE if

         15  they're living in a rent-regulated unit because

         16  there are the other factors that determine

         17  eligibility for the program.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: All right. Thank

         19  you.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE: So,

         21  my job is to make sure people know what those

         22  eligibility requirements are, and hopefully they

         23  will then choose to apply.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Thank you. I

         25  appreciate. Don't move yet, I just want to recognize
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          2  that we have with us Councilman, member of the

          3  Committee, Council Member Michael Nelson, and

          4  Council Member Stewart. And Council Member Margarita

          5  Lopez, who is the, should I say the father or the

          6  mother of the -- the creator of the Intro. 135.

          7                 I am delighted to see you here,

          8  Ms. Lopez. Anyone, do you have a question?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you.

         10  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         11                 Commissioner Tessitore, welcome.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE:

         13  Thank you.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Regards to the

         15  Commissioner, please.

         16                 By nature of the beast sometimes,

         17  although we receive great cooperation from you,

         18  often times this could be adversarial, so don't take

         19  it, of course, personally or anything, all right?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE:

         21  Okay.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Except that

         23  book keeping might be difficult, even given it might

         24  be definitely difficult. But I couldn't help to draw

         25  an analogy between the Mayor saying, well, we may
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          2  lose some tourism money maybe, or we may lose some

          3  taxation on this smoking ban and so on but it's the

          4  best for the people.

          5                 I think the supply is here. I think

          6  135 is certainly worth it, because I feel these two

          7  could be life-saving.

          8                 The Chair went into this so it has

          9  been probably asked and answered, but I think a

         10  mechanism should be in effect somehow to try to

         11  identify as many seniors as possible that would hit

         12  that magic number so it doesn't get passed by so we

         13  don't have to even discuss the prospects of

         14  retroactivity, if you will, or retro.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE:

         16  Well, I mean we're open to suggestions for outreach,

         17  partnering with you in your communities, in whatever

         18  way we can.

         19                 We're now producing our SCRIE guide

         20  in Chinese, Russian and Spanish, and it will be hot

         21  off the press literally any day now.

         22                 We hope that will help to bring more

         23  people into the program as well.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Has 135 been

         25  examined as far as the possibility of a contingency
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          2  type of a plan, or it just like has been dismissed

          3  as out of hand or has DFTA looked into the

          4  possibility of maybe this is unacceptable to us at

          5  this moment, maybe there's another way we can do

          6  this.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE: We

          8  really didn't do that analysis, we just really

          9  looked at the way 135 was written.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Okay, because

         11  we will be pushing of course for this. Thank you,

         12  Mr. Chair.

         13                 Thank you, Donna.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE:

         15  Okay.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Council Member

         17  Stewart.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

         19  Mr. Chair.

         20                 I know I came in a little late so I'm

         21  sorry, the rain and having coming from the Brooklyn,

         22  which is the beginning of New York City, and the

         23  best borough in the City, I think I should be

         24  excused.

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE:
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          2  Except for the construction on Atlantic Avenue right

          3  now.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I just want

          5  to, at the end of the SCRIE, at the expiration, who

          6  assessed these seniors to reapply to --

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE:

          8  Well, we send out notices prior to the expiration of

          9  their current SCRIE round, notifying them to

         10  reapply.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Yes. But I'm

         12  saying, is there anyone that will assist the senior?

         13  Because some of these seniors, as you get older you

         14  become senile, you know, you're not that -- you

         15  know, you don't remember things, so you maybe get

         16  the notice and put it aside, who goes out and makes

         17  sure that that is taken care of?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE: We

         19  do it in a couple of ways. One, we see seniors at 2

         20  Lafayette Street, at our main office. A lot of the

         21  community-based agencies, with whom we work, senior

         22  centers, case management agencies and so on, legal

         23  services officer will assist a senior, and on the

         24  renewal applications we also have a section called

         25  third-party notification, so we ask seniors if
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          2  they'd like to identify someone else, a family

          3  member, neighbor, a friend, that they would like

          4  notified when they are getting their renewal notice,

          5  so that it's a heads up that they can get some

          6  assistance from someone they choose, that's yet

          7  another option.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Is it too

          9  much to say, to ask if we can have someone when just

         10  before the SCRIE expires someone goes to the homes

         11  of the senior and --

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE: In

         13  honesty, with 44,000 households we're -- and most

         14  people do in fact recertify, you know, quite well on

         15  their own, we do try and identify people who need

         16  special assistance because we've noticed they've had

         17  problems before, and work with a local

         18  community-based agency to get someone out there. But

         19  we can discuss -- I don't foresee us doing at home

         20  visits, but that's something we can discuss.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: The reason

         22  why I ask, I have a case of someone who may not

         23  understand English too well, and so they never

         24  really take heed of that notice so it expired and

         25  then there's such a problem to get them reinstated.
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          2  So, that's why I'm asking if someone is going out to

          3  at least assist these seniors, whether they are

          4  senile or they can't speak English too well or

          5  whatever the problem is, I think there should be --

          6  before it expired, because after it's expired there

          7  is such a problem to get them reinstated.

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE: I

          9  agree. It makes much more sense to try and address

         10  the issue up front as opposed to after the fact. If

         11  you have the particular client you want to talk to

         12  us about afterwards, you know, we will see what we

         13  can do. But as I said, when we notice that someone

         14  is having a problem with recertification, we do in

         15  fact reach out in some instances to local agencies

         16  that are helping.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Thank you.

         19                 We are joined by Council Member Helen

         20  Foster from the great County of the Bronx.

         21                 I will ask Council Member Lopez, who

         22  is the creator of the intro, to please say a few

         23  words.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I'm listening

         25  to what you're saying and I'm reading your
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          2  testimony. I'm sorry that I got late here, but I had

          3  to take my mother-in-law who is 70 years old to the

          4  hospital because she is very sick and right now,

          5  that woman worked all her life and she cannot afford

          6  the illnesses that she have now.

          7                 She have Medicare, she's not eligible

          8  for Medicaid. Although she was an employee of the

          9  City of New York for 30 years of her life.

         10                 And she's a typical person and right

         11  now she's in very bad health then.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE:

         13  Sorry to hear that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Me and my

         15  partners are paying for her bills, and she's one of

         16  those people who this bill will affect if she would

         17  have the fortune to live in a rent controlled, rent

         18  stabilized apartment, but she doesn't. Therefore,

         19  she cannot even benefit from this kind of stuff.

         20                 And in reading the information that

         21  you put in here, and from the testimony that you

         22  have put forward, my understanding of what you're

         23  saying is that the proposal that we're putting in

         24  place will be very difficult to manage based on the

         25  administrative procedure that have to be put in
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          2  place to collect information from the seniors past

          3  six years, be able to put all that together in

          4  place, and, frankly, that doesn't sell it for me

          5  because we have to do what we have to do to make

          6  programs work, and it's as simple as that. And this

          7  program was put in place for the purpose of helping

          8  a specific kind of individuals, and the individuals

          9  who are going to be helped with this have not

         10  changed, aren't the same, and the question here is

         11  income level for those individuals. And the question

         12  here is that those individuals' eligibility has not

         13  changed, it continue to be because who they are,

         14  because they are in their fixed income. Then the

         15  matter of having some problems with their

         16  administrative process, or putting this in place,

         17  doesn't sell it, because what we have to do is to

         18  fix it to make it work.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE:

         20  Well, I tried to address in the testimony that

         21  actually we think this would be difficult for

         22  everyone. We think that it would be difficult for

         23  many seniors.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I'm sorry. I

         25  apologize.
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE: We

          3  think it would be difficult for many seniors to be

          4  able to provide income and rental documentation for

          5  a period, not six years prior to now but six years

          6  prior to when they applied, and if you look at the

          7  average length of time someone has been in SCRIE,

          8  that we estimate that to be informations that term

          9  13 to 18 years old.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Well, if they

         11  cannot, then you don't approve the application for

         12  that period and --

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE: I

         14  understand that, but then --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And you have to

         16  look for those one who can provide it for you.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE:

         18  Right. So that I'm saying I think it will actually

         19  serve a fairly small pool of seniors. That's number

         20  one.

         21                 Number two --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: That's good,

         23  because we will have a couple of them that can be

         24  served.

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE:
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          2  Okay, well, my assumption was that you were trying

          3  to serve more than a few people.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And we will if

          5  we fix the way in which we collect information.

          6                 Because let me say this to you. The

          7  people who live in these apartments also have to

          8  provide all this information to the landlords and to

          9  the Rent Control Board. And this information is

         10  available in many places because the income

         11  eligibility has been requested for many other

         12  things, not only for the purpose of rent. Many of

         13  these clients, many of these rentals, many of these

         14  people receive SSI, many of these people receive

         15  other benefits in which they have submitted

         16  information in regard to the income prior to, last

         17  year and the year before and the year before. Then

         18  let's not get hung up in the question of then having

         19  or not having the possibility of having access to

         20  that information, and because we assume that that

         21  has not been the case, then we don't approve this.

         22  Because my presumption on this is that you have to

         23  give it a try, and the try means that they can have

         24  the opportunity to prove the eligibility. If they

         25  cannot, then they cannot, but I don't understand why
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          2  is that we're going to prevent seniors and

          3  individuals who are in a fixed income to benefit

          4  from having more stability on their life, just

          5  because we think they may not get the information,

          6  because it would be very difficult to get access to

          7  that information.

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE:

          9  Well, as you said in the testimony, I think we see

         10  this as a program that's going to, by virtue of how

         11  much administrative work there will be will slow

         12  down the processing time for everyone. We think it

         13  will actually be able to serve a fairly small pool

         14  of seniors, and then in addition to that there's a

         15  whole issue of landlords who will be getting

         16  additional tax abatements, which they will have to

         17  pass along to seniors, we have no mechanism for

         18  seeing that that happens properly, and then, you

         19  know, the cost at a time of fiscal constraints. So,

         20  those are really all the issues I think that we

         21  wanted to raise and ask you to consider.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then what we

         23  need to do is to figure out the way in which that

         24  can be done.

         25                 I mean, the reasons why you're given
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          2  to oppose this, frankly, are very troubling to me,

          3  because this is a matter of putting in place

          4  administrative procedures that will allow this to be

          5  functioning. Then you're going to tell me that in

          6  the century that we just got in, where everybody is

          7  talking about how much we have developed the

          8  technology, and how much advanced we are and be able

          9  to produce better information, collect information,

         10  I mean, everything and the mother, you are going to

         11  tell me that we are not capable of putting together

         12  a way of collecting this information and move it

         13  forward and make it possible?

         14                 I cannot accept that explanation. I

         15  just can't.

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE:

         17  Okay. As I said, we think it will be a cumbersome

         18  costly program serving relatively a few people and

         19  we can agree to disagree.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Okay, I appreciate

         21  you coming.

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE:

         23  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Commissioner

         25  Tessitore, thank you very much.
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          2                 Give my regard to the Commissioner.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TESSITORE: I

          4  will do that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Thank you.

          6                 Before I call our next witness, today

          7  we are hearing from advocates.  On the 17th, next

          8  Thursday, this Committee will be in the Bronx

          9  listening to seniors on this same subject. So, the

         10  members of the Committee, they will know that we

         11  will be Thursday in the Bronx, again I'm saying

         12  listening to seniors, see what is their worry and

         13  what is their problems.

         14                 Our next witness is Mr. Preston

         15  Niblack, Deputy Director of the City of New York

         16  Independent Budget Office.

         17                 Good morning, Mr. Niblack.

         18                 MR. NIBLACK: Good morning, Chairman

         19  Diaz, and members of the Committee. Thank you for

         20  inviting us to testify.

         21                 I'm Preston, Deputy Director of the

         22  Independent Budget Office. It's a pleasure to appear

         23  before you again to discuss the Senior Citizen Rent

         24  Increase Exemption Program. My testimony today will

         25  be brief and will specifically address the fiscal
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          2  impacts of both instruction 135 and Assembly Bill

          3  4883 supported by Resolution Number 175.

          4                 According to the latest Department of

          5  Finance statistics, about 44,000 senior households

          6  currently participate in the program, as you heard,

          7  at an annual cost to the City and foregone tax

          8  revenues of $80 million. That 67 million you heard

          9  is for Fiscal Year 2002, the Department of Finance

         10  estimate of the cost this year 2003 is 80 million.

         11                 In brief, to summarize our testimony,

         12  we estimate that A.4883 could increase the number of

         13  low-income senior households eligible for SCRIE by

         14  about 13 percent at a cost to the City of under

         15  $400,000 in the first year after enactment, rising

         16  to $3 million roughly by the fourth year after

         17  enactment.

         18                 Estimating the fiscal impact of

         19  Intro. 135 is more uncertain, but our best estimate

         20  is that it would cost roughly ten to 12 million

         21  initially, and as you've heard, it would also impose

         22  significant additional work in the Department of the

         23  Aging which could lead to delays in processing SCRIE

         24  applications, and let me just diverge from my

         25  written testimony for a moment.
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          2                 We actually were not certain about

          3  what the intention of the bill was, although it now

          4  seems clear to me that the intention of the intro

          5  was to provide retroactive benefits, so I'll go

          6  forward on that assumption.

          7                 Let me start, however, with Assembly

          8  Bill 4883. Based on data from the 1999 Housing and

          9  Vacancy Survey, which is conducted by the Census

         10  Bureau for the City, we estimated that there are

         11  roughly 17,000 households that would become newly

         12  eligible under the expanded criteria in A.4883.

         13                 In previous analysis, we've found

         14  that about one-third of eligible households actually

         15  received SCRIE benefits. Based on these figures, IBO

         16  estimates that the cost of extending SCRIE benefits

         17  to these households would be less than $400,000 in

         18  the first year, rising to $3.3 million by the fourth

         19  year after enactment.

         20                 Turning now to Intro. 135, it

         21  presents a somewhat greater challenge to estimate.

         22  The added cost to the City of Intro. 135 arises

         23  because an applicants rent would be rolled back to

         24  its level at the time he or she first became

         25  eligible, if that was before the time he or she
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          2  actually applied. This would increase the abatement

          3  the property owner would receive and hence the

          4  City's cost.

          5                 We could think of this as having two

          6  components, the rollback for existing applicants and

          7  the rollback for new applicants.

          8                 Let me start with the new applicants.

          9  We think that the rollbacks for new applicants are

         10  not likely to increase the cost to the City by more

         11  than three to four percent of a current cost. Again,

         12  according to the Housing Vacancy Survey, the average

         13  age of SCRIE participants at the time they first

         14  apply for SCRIE was just over 67 years old. Their

         15  rents were on average $622 per year more than they

         16  were paying when they were 62. They're earliest age

         17  at which a tenant can receive SCRIE benefits.

         18                 In 2002, DFTA approved 4,500 new

         19  SCRIE applications. If we assume an average rent gap

         20  between the time of first application and the time

         21  of first eligibility of $622, Intro. 135 would add

         22  2.8 million per year to the cost of SCRIE if all

         23  4,500 of those households met the financial

         24  eligibility requirements and did so for the full

         25  five years, if we assume it's five years on average.
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          2                 The cost of extending the average

          3  roll back to existing SCRIE participants would

          4  obviously be greater because it would potentially

          5  apply to all 44,000 current SCRIE recipients. But

          6  not all existing or new SCRIE applicants would

          7  actually meet or be able to demonstrate that they

          8  meet the eligibility criteria.

          9                 We have no way of estimating

         10  unfortunately how many SCRIE applicants would

         11  actually either meet the criteria or be able to

         12  prove that they did and for how long.

         13                 Some number of applicants will have

         14  had incomes that were too high, or rent income

         15  ratios that were too low to qualify for SCRIE at

         16  some point between age 62 and when they first

         17  applied.

         18                 Others would not qualify because they

         19  would be unable to produce the necessary past rent

         20  and income documentation, or they might simply not

         21  find it worth the effort to do so.

         22                 Somewhat arbitrarily assuming again

         23  that one third of current SCRIE recipients could

         24  demonstrate continuous eligibility prior to their

         25  first application date for an average of five years,
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          2  the annual cost in foregone property tax revenues we

          3  estimate would rise by around $9 million.

          4                 These estimates include only the

          5  property tax revenues the City would forego as a

          6  result of Intro. 135. The rollback of rents for

          7  existing beneficiaries could result in a flood of

          8  applications for DFTA to process. DFTA would face

          9  the additional burden of reviewing and verifying up

         10  to six years of documentation for every applicant.

         11  This would either add to their current $5 million

         12  per year cost of administering SCRIE or more likely

         13  result in longer delays in processing SCRIE

         14  applications, as you heard from Assistant

         15  Commissioner Tessitore.

         16                 I won't review the Commissioner's

         17  testimony concerning the difficulties in

         18  administering retroactive rent payments, all of

         19  which seem to us to be true, and in fact, fairly

         20  burdensome, both for senior citizens to apply and

         21  for the City to administer.

         22                 This could indeed add significantly

         23  to the cost of the bill. I did hear Commissioner

         24  Tessitore say that OMB and Council Finance had

         25  estimated that it would be about $35 million in the
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          2  first year. We agree that it sounds, it could be

          3  somewhere in that neighborhood, in the tens of

          4  millions of dollars, although it would be a one-time

          5  only cost to pay the retroactive payments, if that's

          6  in fact what happened.

          7                 That concludes my testimony and I

          8  would be happy to take any questions you have.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Thank you.

         10                 Any one of the members? I would like

         11  to recognize the -- we have been joined by Council

         12  Member Dennis Gallagher. From Queens, right? Queens,

         13  okay.

         14                 Any one of the members have any

         15  questions?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Could you go

         17  over the reasons why -- you said one of them is the

         18  cost and could you give me a list of what are the

         19  problems you see with this Intro?

         20                 MR. NIBLACK: I wouldn't necessarily

         21  say that cost is actually a problem, because as we

         22  said, I think that at least, setting aside the

         23  question of the retroactive payments for right now,

         24  I think that the costs are likely not to be terribly

         25  significant.
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          2                 I think that the arguments that

          3  Commissioner Tessitore laid out regarding the

          4  difficulties of administering this are, you know,

          5  were certainly issues that we also recognize. As

          6  Council Member Lopez pointed out, there may be a

          7  certain number -- the fact that a certain number of

          8  senior citizens may not be able to demonstrate their

          9  eligibility is not in my view an argument against

         10  the bill. It's simply an argument that says that

         11  some people may not be able to demonstrate their

         12  eligibility. Nonetheless, it does require people to

         13  produce documentation. We obviously want to avoid

         14  any fraudulent claims, and it will impose additional

         15  administrative burden on the Department in order to

         16  review those claims and at least for, you know, the

         17  first year or two when there is all the existing

         18  applicants are applying, that would, I would think,

         19  tend to slow down greatly.

         20                 I'm assuming that no additional

         21  resources will be forthcoming. They're not going to

         22  add staff to DFTA to implement this. If they did, it

         23  would cost money, if they don't, it will cost time,

         24  it will result in delays.

         25                 So that's, you know, we merely point
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          2  this out as a consideration in how the bill would be

          3  implemented.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: How much would you

          5  think it would cost, a program that really reach out

          6  program, that really reach every single senior

          7  citizen in the City of New York, to let them know

          8  immediately when, the date that they really qualify?

          9  How much --

         10                 MR. NIBLACK: Just the outreach

         11  program itself?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Yes, to be sure

         13  that no senior citizen would be left behind?

         14                 MR. NIBLACK: You know, I'm not a

         15  program administrator so I'm not exactly sure what

         16  the best ways of doing this would be, but there are

         17  certainly many senior citizens on low incomes

         18  receive Social Security benefits or other government

         19  benefits, and I would think that the City could

         20  partner with the Social Security Administration and

         21  other agencies to send out a notice. Most senior

         22  citizens now are eligible for some kind of benefit

         23  at age 62, unlike me who will not be eligible until

         24  I reach 67, but so it seems that there ought to be

         25  a, you know, a large number of these applicants who
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          2  are already --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: But you don't know

          4  how much?

          5                 MR. NIBLACK: I couldn't estimate,

          6  although adding a mailing, you know, adding a flyer

          7  or something to an existing mailing I wouldn't think

          8  would cost more than a couple of million dollars for

          9  the number of households we're talking about.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Thank you.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Can I ask a

         12  question?

         13                 When you did your analysis, did you

         14  get information about where the majority of the

         15  people who are benefitting from this particular

         16  program are located?

         17                 MR. NIBLACK: No, we did not.

         18                 We're relying on the housing vacancy

         19  survey, which because it's a sample, you know, is

         20  subject to a certain amount of error, so it's, you

         21  know, it's difficult to get a good estimate if we

         22  start breaking down the population, the sort of

         23  subpopulation, so we didn't look at borough

         24  distributions.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: You also
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          2  couldn't get a breakdown of this population by

          3  borough?

          4                 MR. NIBLACK: We could, and we could

          5  also certainly ask DFTA, for instance, for a

          6  distribution of their current recipients by borough.

          7                 Again, I'm hesitant to do it, simply

          8  because I'm not sure how reliable our estimate would

          9  be, based on the housing vacancy survey, but, you

         10  know, we can certainly ask DFTA for a distribution

         11  of by borough, of their current recipients.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I think that

         13  that is important information for this body, because

         14  when we talk about reaching out in this program, if

         15  we don't know that the reaching out has been done

         16  appropriately in all of the boroughs, what we will

         17  be having therefore is that this program is not

         18  implemented equally everywhere, and I don't want to

         19  suggest that one borough has more opportunity than

         20  the other, but I have seen that kind of situation

         21  happen a lot in regard to many programs.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Not only the

         23  boroughs, certain sections of the boroughs.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And the reason

         25  I'm saying this is because when you look at the
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          2  distribution of where the location of the senior

          3  centers are, that are the most likely place that a

          4  senior will learn about how to proceed with this,

          5  not necessarily the location reflect the whole City,

          6  and some areas will have more senior centers than

          7  others, therefore, I suspect that if we put in place

          8  a real campaign to reaching out to areas that are

          9  under-represented, will be very good for seniors all

         10  over, and it will be a more fair way of putting this

         11  program in place.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Which I also find

         13  out whose side the seniors that had not been

         14  applying to this program.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: That's

         16  precisely where I'm going, in regard of, I'm going

         17  in regard of location, because I'm looking at the

         18  question of where the senior centers are. Then we

         19  know in the Council that we have a deficiency on

         20  that, in regard of certain areas not having enough

         21  senior centers to serve the population. Therefore, I

         22  will not be surprised that this low service of

         23  residents who are seniors because we don't have

         24  enough senior centers will match the applicant

         25  amount of people on this program.
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          2                 MR. NIBLACK: If I may, Mr. Chairman,

          3  actually my analyst just handed me, the Department

          4  of Finance does provide a borough breakdown of how

          5  many units are receiving SCRIE benefits, which I'll

          6  give to the Sergeant-At-Arms. Thirty-five percent of

          7  the total is in Brooklyn, 29 percent is in

          8  Manhattan, 14 percent in the Bronx, 22 percent in

          9  Queens and a half of percent in Staten Island.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: There it is.

         11  I'm right, absolutely right on what I was talking

         12  about.

         13                 Then, again, that means that the

         14  likelihood of the increased population who will

         15  benefit from this will be in the Bronx, because

         16  that's the one that have the less amount of people

         17  right now; can I make that assumption, that

         18  extrapolation?

         19                 MR. NIBLACK: I don't know what the

         20  distribution of the eligible population is. It may

         21  be that this corresponds exactly to the distribution

         22  of the eligible population and everybody is being

         23  served equally. That part I don't know.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I mean, I'm not

         25  surprised. I have that suspicion that the Bronx will
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          2  be the one with the less amount of applicants, and,

          3  you know, I'm not God, I cannot predict the future,

          4  but I can read things somewhere.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Well, just

          6  quickly, it would be good to have a breakdown per

          7  capita population and break that up and for the

          8  scope to find out how that works out, because in the

          9  face of it, it doesn't sound too good.

         10                 Just briefly, Intro. 135, would you

         11  agree with any of DFTA's numbers overall? I know as

         12  you stated it's difficult to estimate a greater

         13  challenge and figuring it out, but just in a ball

         14  park area, where they estimate the first year 36

         15  million, second year 51 million, third 67, 81, so

         16  it's approximately a quarter of a billion dollars;

         17  is it possible these are like a scare tactic

         18  numbers?

         19                 MR. NIBLACK: The payment of

         20  retroactive benefits would be a one-time payment.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Logistic

         22  nightmare, I would imagine.

         23                 MR. NIBLACK: The questions of what it

         24  would take to administer it aside, you know, the

         25  retroactive benefits are going back and that's a
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          2  one-time payment, so it might take place over one or

          3  two years, I would guess -- I wasn't comfortable

          4  giving this number publicly because I think it's so

          5  uncertain, but in the neighborhood of 35 to 40

          6  million seems correct, or at least possible.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Over the

          8  four-year span?

          9                 MR. NIBLACK: No, that's over a one

         10  year, one time, it's a one-time payment, that's the

         11  total payout once.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Because DFTA

         13  went to four years.

         14                 MR. NIBLACK: Yes, I'm not sure that I

         15  understand why that would be the case. Our estimate

         16  of the cost is based on, you know, new applicants

         17  and sort of rolling back existing applicants, you

         18  know, rolling their rents back and going forward we

         19  guessed that that would be somewhere in the

         20  neighborhood of, you know, 10 to 12 million dollars,

         21  although if every existing applicant were to

         22  successfully apply, then the cost could be indeed

         23  $30 million, but as we've recognized today, I think

         24  it's very unlikely that every existing applicant

         25  would successfully apply.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: This may look

          3  better than it seemed earlier. Okay, thanks.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: So, before you go,

          5  you are here on the record stating that your

          6  numbers, or you seem to disagree with what DFTA

          7  said?

          8                 MR. NIBLACK: I don't really fully

          9  understand. I have not seen DFTA's analysis, and I

         10  don't fully understand what's behind them, so I

         11  would have to take a closer look but I will state

         12  for the record that I think that there is a one-time

         13  cost associated with the retroactive payments and

         14  that the ongoing costs would be considerably lower

         15  in all likelihood than what the Commissioners

         16  testified to.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Thank you, Mr.

         18  Niblack. We appreciate you taking time to come here

         19  today.

         20                 Our next witness is Diane Lutwak,

         21  from The Legal Aid Society of Brooklyn.

         22                 MS. LUTWAK: Good morning. Thank you

         23  for the opportunity to speak to you today, but I

         24  understand that I'll be preaching to the choir here.

         25  It was interesting to hear what the Assistant

                                                            50

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  Commissioner had to say. I mean, I've heard it

          3  before, but I'm here to put forth the other side of

          4  the story.

          5                 I'm going to just deviate a little

          6  bit from my testimony there, but just to introduce

          7  myself, I am the attorney in charge of The Legal Aid

          8  Society's Brooklyn Office for the Aging. We serve

          9  seniors throughout the Borough of Brooklyn and the

         10  SCRIE program in particular has been an issue for me

         11  ever since I started at Legal Aid in 1988, when I

         12  became involved with litigation, the purpose of

         13  which was to try to accomplish exactly what Intro.

         14  No. 135 is proposing to do, to make the program

         15  available and to serve the purpose of the program

         16  for more seniors who are being, who are cut out of

         17  the program because they don't know about the

         18  program.

         19                 Aside from working on that

         20  litigation, which unfortunately was unsuccessful

         21  because the Court of Appeals in Albany found that

         22  the existing statute did not permit us to do what we

         23  wanted to do. Since that time, and over this time

         24  period, too, since 1988, I have assisted with the

         25  processing of hundreds, if not thousands, of SCRIE
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          2  applications, SCRIE recertifications, representation

          3  of tenants in Housing Court who are facing eviction

          4  due to rising rents, all of my clients being seniors

          5  age 60 and over.

          6                 So, I'm very familiar with the

          7  problem which this proposal seeks to provide, at

          8  least a partial solution for. If nothing else, it

          9  provides a mechanism for advocates like myself to

         10  help seniors to gather the documents and get their

         11  rents frozen at a lower, more affordable level. If

         12  you take a typical situation, take a senior whose

         13  current income of Social Security benefits is $650 a

         14  month. They come to my office at Legal Aid because

         15  they're facing eviction, their rent over the years

         16  has risen to 550 a month. This typical client, let's

         17  say she's 75 years old, she doesn't know about the

         18  SCRIE program. Frankly, there are people out there

         19  that no outreach program is ever going to reach,

         20  because they don't go to senior centers, or for

         21  whatever other reason, they're not getting the

         22  information, and they come to us only because after

         23  struggling, eating macaroni or whatever it is, to be

         24  able to pay the rent, now it's just become, the rent

         25  has become too much of a burden, they're way behind
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          2  in their rent and that rent to income ratio is out

          3  of hand.

          4                 Getting them in the SCRIE program now

          5  under the existing statute isn't going to save that

          6  person's apartment. It's unaffordable. What this

          7  proposal does is to give a mechanism whereby we

          8  could get that rent rolled back maybe $100 and that

          9  would make a big difference, then you have a rent of

         10  450, an income of 650, you've got food stamps and

         11  Medicaid and other benefits, and that person can

         12  keep that apartment that they've had for maybe 20,

         13  30 years, keep that senior in the community where

         14  they've lived and where they want to remain, and

         15  that's what this proposal does is to give a

         16  mechanism for that.

         17                 And as I said, if nothing else,

         18  advocates will be able to help these folks gather

         19  the documents they need and establish that lower

         20  rental amount.

         21                 I wanted to speak about, I wanted to

         22  respond to Assistant Commissioner Tessitore's

         23  concerns about the retroactive aspect and make a

         24  comment on that. One thing is that the effective

         25  date of any SCRIE application is always prospective,
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          2  so first of all, with a new applicant we're talking

          3  about a question of looking back six years only to

          4  determine the amount that the rent will be frozen at

          5  prospectively.

          6                 So, my reading of the statute, and

          7  also even for those coming in who were already in

          8  the program seeking the redetermination, if

          9  necessary you could tweak the bill so that that also

         10  is prospective only so we're not talking about going

         11  back six years. Because, frankly, the tenants that I

         12  see don't really even need that as a remedy. What

         13  we're looking for is prospectively keeping that

         14  apartment affordable. When the person comes to us

         15  and they're facing eviction for rent arrears, we can

         16  probably get the rent arrears paid through a grant

         17  from the Human Resources Administration, with rents

         18  from charities, but the critical question is going

         19  to be, is this apartment affordable prospectively,

         20  and because we can't get the background paid for

         21  someone who cannot afford their rent next month but

         22  with this proposal that helps to make the apartment

         23  affordable next month, and the back rent we can deal

         24  with, the retroactive aspect, I don't think we

         25  should let that trouble us, and as I said, if it
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          2  needs to be clarified, certainly it's clear in the

          3  statute now that the effective date for a new

          4  application is the first day of the month following

          5  the month in which you apply. So, for example, you

          6  apply today, it will be effective November 1st, and

          7  that could be similarly clarified for those seeking

          8  a redetermination.

          9                 As I said, outreach will never reach

         10  everybody, so there will always be people who don't

         11  know about the SCRIE program, and although we could

         12  do a lot more to improve on the outreach and get

         13  more people in the program sooner, this provides a

         14  helpful mechanism to get those who do come into the

         15  program late back in the position where they would

         16  have been had they gotten into the program earlier.

         17                 Remember, it doesn't provide anybody

         18  with anything that they're not otherwise entitled

         19  to. We're talking about people who just didn't know,

         20  they could have applied and they didn't apply and

         21  now they're learning about the program and they

         22  should be allowed to get the same benefit as if they

         23  had applied when they were first eligible.

         24                 Thank you. I'm happy to answer any

         25  questions anybody may have.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Potentially,

          3  according to what you said, therefore, I can say

          4  that we're going to save money, because that mean

          5  that Legal Aid don't have to represent so many

          6  people, because we will cut those clients that will

          7  go to you, they become civilized in the rents that

          8  they have, correct?

          9                 MS. LUTWAK: Well, there will be

         10  others who will still need us, I'm sure.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes, but that

         12  means that you don't have to serve that population.

         13                 MS. LUTWAK: That would be great.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Right?

         15                 MS. LUTWAK: That would be great, yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then

         17  potentially it's a saving.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Council Member

         19  Nelson.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you.

         21  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         22                 I think some of it boils down to we

         23  shouldn't penalize ignorance, innocence, not

         24  stupidity but perhaps not having the wherewithal to

         25  make like a game show, I'm sorry, Mrs. Smith, but
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          2  you didn't press the button on time so you lose. I

          3  think this is basically part of the theme of this.

          4  Thank you.

          5                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Thank you.

          7                 MS. LUTWAK: I thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: I'm going to call

          9  three witnesses at the same time. They are Raquel

         10  Romanick, the Council of Senior Centers & Services;

         11  Kay Dundorf, One Stop Senior Services; and Mario

         12  Tapia, Latino Gerontological Center. And Bobbie

         13  Sackman is speaking for Raquel. Okay, Mario, the

         14  three of you, okay? Thank you.

         15                 Who is going to go first?

         16                 MS. SACKMAN: Hi. Good morning. Bobbie

         17  Sackman. I'm sorry.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: I'm going to have

         19  questions after each one finishes their statement.

         20                 MS. SACKMAN: I'm Bobbie Sackman,

         21  Director of Public Policy with the Council of Senior

         22  Centers and Services.

         23                 You're all getting, or should be

         24  getting a copy of our testimony, and instead of

         25  reading it, I'm sort of just going to highlight it.
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          2                 Basically what our testimony says is

          3  that for three years or actually more on the State

          4  level Council of Senior Centers has been advocating

          5  to increase the eligibility income level from the

          6  current 20,000 to a minimum of 30,000. There are

          7  actually bills in Albany saying it should go as high

          8  as 50,000.

          9                 It's also interesting that Mayor

         10  Bloomberg, when he was campaigning, supported SCRIE,

         11  the increase to 50,000. He had it in his literature.

         12  We'll see if he's still on record for that support.

         13                 We're interested in bringing more

         14  seniors into the program in several ways. One is

         15  increasing the income eligibility because it hasn't

         16  been increased in a good six or seven years, and we

         17  think it's way behind the times.

         18                 The other is outreach. The Mayor's

         19  Management Report talks about, it shows, there's a

         20  chart where the number of seniors in SCRIE has been

         21  flat. This program has been around for 30 years and

         22  only a third of eligible seniors are using it, so

         23  clearly there's room for outreach. Not saying that

         24  DFTA hasn't done it, but clearly there's more that

         25  can be done.
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          2                 I would love to see SCRIE mobiles go

          3  through communities, or do a campaign on the buses,

          4  seniors use buses more than trains, as you know.

          5  Because they can't get hit just once with SCRIE,

          6  they've got to hear it over, with any benefit you've

          7  got to hear it over and over again. One time might

          8  not do it.

          9                 And in this testimony we're really

         10  supporting that we would like to continue our

         11  advocacy on the state level, which if we're

         12  successful obviously we'll have a cost to the City,

         13  and if you're successful you have a cost to the City

         14  with this Intro. And, so, our looking at this is how

         15  do you use scarce resources, and everybody could

         16  have different views on what the best way of using

         17  scarce resources would be.

         18                 So, what I would like to say is that

         19  if there's a way of simplifying, I personally think

         20  that everybody should just go back to one-third, no

         21  matter when they get in the program they should just

         22  do one-third of their rent prospectively, as the

         23  Legal Aid lawyer said, because that would greatly

         24  simplify it.

         25                 I think you cannot underplay the
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          2  reality of the complications of asking seniors for

          3  the documentation, not only for the seniors

          4  themselves, but for the community-based agencies,

          5  and I know Kay will probably talk more to that

          6  because she does this directly. The senior centers,

          7  case management agencies, an agency like Kay's West

          8  Side One Stop, they're already so overloaded that if

          9  it really gets much more complicated there is a

         10  ripple effect, and I really think there's a reality

         11  to that. Not just what might happen internally at

         12  DFTA, even out in the community.

         13                 You guys probably deal with this all

         14  the time in your own offices, so you have some

         15  understanding of that as well.

         16                 So, what I would like to say is in

         17  listening to everybody's testimony today, what my

         18  thinking is, I don't know if this is going to go

         19  forward or become a reality, we're going to continue

         20  our advocacy on the State level to increase the

         21  income level, because we believe that will bring in

         22  more seniors, and if there's a reality that this

         23  could get passed in a sort of common sense way,

         24  simplified way that makes it work for everybody,

         25  then it's something we would continue to be
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          2  interested to look at.

          3                 You're never going to build enough

          4  affordable housing for any group in this City

          5  because that's just too hard and too expensive, so

          6  if we can keep seniors right where they are.

          7                 The other thing I would just like to

          8  say, and I know this sounds pie in the sky because

          9  we're all going to be sitting here about a month

         10  from now crying at what the budget is going to look

         11  like, but talk about prevention, if there were a way

         12  seriously of doing more outreach, whether it's

         13  through like the MTA or other areas where maybe the

         14  City isn't, quote, spending a fortune that would

         15  bring in so many more seniors to this program, and

         16  that's probably one of the, you know, there's no

         17  reason this program should be still at this

         18  one-third use level, it's been at that level for

         19  just years and years and years, and we need to think

         20  of ways of really, you know, upping that. And it's

         21  not just technology, because seniors don't really

         22  use the web. You know, it's really more the one on

         23  one.

         24                 So, I want to just leave it at that,

         25  again saying that I've been listening carefully to
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          2  everybody's, you know, different testimony, and just

          3  see how it moves forward.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 MS. DUNDORF: Good morning. I'm Kay

          6  Dundorf from One Stop Senior Services on the Upper

          7  West Side of Manhattan. As the name implies, One

          8  Stop, I did not prepare testimony, I didn't realize

          9  I was supposed to have written testimony here, but I

         10  want to applaud the Committee in looking at ways of

         11  helping seniors maintain their apartments because

         12  that is a real issue.

         13                 At One Stop we assist with all

         14  benefits and entitlements that older persons may

         15  have available to them, from the age of 60 on. We

         16  have Social Security on-site, as well as human

         17  resources on site, and we assist people in applying

         18  for SCRIE.

         19                 It's really important that we do

         20  whatever we can to help people remain in their own

         21  homes. This particular proposal, as I read it, I

         22  would certainly recommend that we look at when a

         23  person applies that their rent be frozen at the

         24  eligibility level of when it was one-third of their

         25  income, because so many do not apply until later.
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          2                 But to remove the burden of having to

          3  make payments for all of those years. I mean, going

          4  forward but at the lower level would definitely

          5  benefit a great number of tenants.

          6                 And as Brooklyn Legal Services knows,

          7  often times seniors do not come for the assistance

          8  until it is a critical issue.

          9                 We also at One Stop assist with

         10  eviction notices and that often times when a person

         11  all of a sudden reaches a point where they're not

         12  able to pay their rent, they're behind, we assist

         13  them in getting grants, but having SCRIE at the

         14  level that when they became eligible would be very

         15  bad beneficial thing.

         16                 And I would also like to, as a senior

         17  advocate, and very interested in promoting positive

         18  images of aging, I want us to be aware that we are

         19  talking about people who, for the most part, are

         20  fully functioning, have choices and there are people

         21  who even though they may be eligible for food stamps

         22  do not apply.

         23                 They're talking about SCRIE, they may

         24  be eligible and they choose not to apply. They may

         25  wait until they reach a point that they're facing an
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          2  eviction.

          3                 So, keep in mind that we're talking

          4  about adults, we're talking about people who have

          5  choices, so as long as we know that those choices

          6  are fully available and they know about them, that

          7  is critical, and we will do whatever we can in terms

          8  of outreach to our community and the seniors.

          9                 We assist, between January and March

         10  of this year we assisted at least 300 seniors in

         11  applying for either the SCRIE, new SCRIE application

         12  or the recertifications.

         13                 Trying to do the six retroactive

         14  documentation is going to be a nightmare. Not that

         15  the individual may not be able to prove their

         16  income, but you then have to be, have the landlord,

         17  and have information from the landlord and whether

         18  or not that is the same landlord that was there six

         19  years ago or not is in question.

         20                 Again, I would certainly encourage

         21  going forward in terms of looking back at that

         22  eligibility, and looking, going forward at that

         23  rate.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Before Mr. Tapia
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          2  goes, I would like to say that Councilman Eric Dilan

          3  who is a member of the Committee, and Councilman

          4  Domenic Recchia, who is also a member of the

          5  Committee, are here.

          6                 And I wanted to make sure that the

          7  Committee is completely, totally, fully present

          8  under this weather. No member of this Committee has

          9  excuses, they're all here today to listen to you and

         10  that's nice.

         11                 I would like to tell all the members

         12  of the Committee that next Thursday we will be in

         13  the Bronx listening to senior citizens about these

         14  intros. And Mario Tapia is the Director of the

         15  Latino Gerontological Center, and there are two

         16  groups who are advocates for the Hispanic Latino

         17  senior citizens, one is directed by Ms. Suleka

         18  Cabrera, and one is from this one, Mr. Mario Tapia,

         19  and I'm proud to see that Mr. Tapia is here today.

         20                 MR. TAPIA: Thank you.

         21                 Good morning, everyone. My name is

         22  Mario Tapia, and I serve as the President of the

         23  Centro Gerontologico Latino. On behalf of the CGL

         24  Board of Directors, Senior Advisors and our

         25  membership of Latino elderly who reside throughout
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          2  the five boroughs, I would like to express our

          3  appreciation to the Committee on Aging of the

          4  Council of the City of New York for inviting us to

          5  participate in this important hearing. Also, we take

          6  this opportunity to congratulate Chairperson Ruben

          7  Diaz for his important leadership that is so

          8  essential in developing new avenues for serving the

          9  elderly of our City who are among the most needy.

         10                 The Centro Gerontologico Latino is an

         11  organization that seeks to address the alarming

         12  adversities endured by the Hispanic elderly every

         13  day in New York City. Our Board of Directors is

         14  comprised of Latino community leaders and a National

         15  Board of Advisors representing diverse ethnic

         16  backgrounds from Puerto Rico to Los Angeles. We work

         17  collaboratively with a variety of public and private

         18  agencies, including community-based organizations to

         19  address the needs of the elderly.

         20                 Our members were instrumental in the

         21  design of the Bilingual Assistance Hotline of the

         22  New York City Department for the Aging. Other

         23  efforts included the organization of the First

         24  Bilingual Presidential and New York Mayoral debates

         25  on Hispanic issues, which were broadcast live on
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          2  radio and television.

          3                 Recently, in collaboration with

          4  organizations from around the country, we conducted

          5  a National Conference on Hispanic Elderly in New

          6  York City, which produced a National Latino Agenda

          7  on Latino Elderly Issues that was submitted to the

          8  White House Conference on Aging.

          9                 We will continue to use our members'

         10  diverse range of expertise to conduct conferences

         11  and special events on behalf of our aging community.

         12                 In reviewing the Council's Resolution

         13  175, we salute the efforts of members of this

         14  Council to protect the wellbeing of the City's

         15  elderly, in particular those of us in extreme need,

         16  such as Latino elderly. As you may know, the Latino

         17  elderly population is experiencing the most dramatic

         18  increase of all elderly groups residing in the City

         19  of New York.

         20                 In 1980, the City of New York was the

         21  home of 101,178 persons of Hispanic origin 60 and

         22  over. The figure increased by over 100 percent to

         23  210,000 by the Year 2000.

         24                 Within the next 25 years, statistical

         25  projections bring that number close to half a
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          2  million.

          3                 Consequently there is a demand for

          4  adequate planning in the appropriate care and living

          5  conditions of the Latino elderly.

          6                 Unfortunately, the demographic trends

          7  among the City's elderly also show an increase in

          8  the number and proportion of older people living

          9  below the poverty level. Two out of the three Latino

         10  older persons are living below or near the poverty

         11  level. Sixty-five percent of the Latino elderly

         12  reported incomes of 10,000 or less as compared to 23

         13  percent of whites and 52 percent of African-American

         14  elderly.

         15                 Moreover, considering that the Latino

         16  elderly at the least likely group to own their own

         17  house or apartment, only 13 percent compared to 48

         18  percent of white elderly, we deem it appropriate for

         19  the CGL to support the Council in its call upon the

         20  New York State Legislature and the Governor to enact

         21  Assembly Bill A.4883, which will enable New York

         22  City to extend the Senior Citizen Rent Increase

         23  Exemption to eligible seniors with a household

         24  income of 14,400 or less when the cost of rent

         25  exceeds 25 percent of household income.
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          2                 One additional request to the Council

          3  and the New York State Legislature is that all

          4  information regarding this Senior Citizen Rent

          5  Increase Exemption be provided also in Spanish.

          6                 Latino professionals, as well as

          7  Latino organizations, know how to plan and provide

          8  services that are ethnically and culturally

          9  appropriate. However, it is a difficult task when we

         10  lack the resources especially given the growing

         11  Latino population numbers I alluded to previously.

         12                 It saddens me to say that our Latino

         13  elderly are systematically denied appropriate

         14  services by many community-based organizations and

         15  public and private sources.

         16                 Additionally, government, private

         17  corporations and foundation resources have not been

         18  fairly distributed according to the growing needs of

         19  the Latino elderly.

         20                 It is necessary to take action now in

         21  planning and implementing programs that reflect the

         22  growing numbers of Latino seniors.

         23                 This hearing is an important step in

         24  the right direction. Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DIAZ: Thank you, Mr.
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          2  Tapia.

          3                 Any questions for the members, from

          4  any one of the Council members to one of the

          5  witnesses?

          6                 Anyone have any questions? If we

          7  don't have questions, then the meeting will be

          8  adjourned.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 (Hearing concluded at 11:25 a.m.)
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